IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLARK COUNTY OFFICE OF THE CORONER/MEDICAL EXAMINER,	
Appellant, vs.	Case No.: 7509 Jul 19 2018 08:32 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court
LAS VEGAS REVIEW-JOURNAL,	Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, the Honorable
Respondent.	Jim Crockett Presiding

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Coroner appeals from the District Court's order granting attorney fees and costs to Respondent, Las Vegas Review-Journal ("LVRJ"). 5 Joint Appendix ("JA") 750–765. The District Court's order granting attorney fees and costs is a "special order entered after final judgment" according to NRAP 3A(b)(8), which is an independently appealable order. *See Lee v. GNLV Corp.*, 116 Nev. 424, 426, 996 P.2d 416, 417 (2000). The underlying final judgment is the District Court's order granting LVRJ's petition for writ of mandamus (2 JA 428–442), which is also a final, appealable order according to NRAP 3A(b)(1).¹ *See Ashokan v. State, Dep't of Ins.*, 109 Nev. 662, 665–666, 856 P.2d 244, 246 (1993). The Coroner's notice of appeal was timely filed on February 5, 2018 from the District Court's order granting attorney fees and costs to LVRJ, which was noticed on February 1, 2018. 5 JA 750–767. Therefore, this Court has appellate jurisdiction over this appeal.

II. <u>ROUTING STATEMENT</u>

The Coroner asks the Supreme Court to retain this appeal according to NRAP 17(a)(10) and (11) since this case involves issues of first impression that are also of statewide public importance. In its March 29, 2018 order, this Court

¹ The Coroner has also appealed the District Court's order granting LVRJ's petition for writ of mandamus, which is docketed in this Court as Case No. 74604.

elected to not consolidate this appeal with Case No. 74604. But, the Court's order states that these two related appeals will be "clustered based on the related subject matter to ensure that the appeals are resolved in a consistent and efficient manner." So, according to the Court's order, the assignment of both appeals should be to the same court.

If this Court rules in favor of the Coroner in Case No. 74604, which is the Coroner's challenge to the District Court's order granting LVRJ's petition for writ of mandamus (2 JA 428–442), LVRJ will no longer be a prevailing party for purposes of its award of attorney fees and costs based upon NRS 239.011(2),² and this entire appeal would be summarily resolved in the Coroner's favor.

If LVRJ were to prevail in Case No. 74604, the Court would then need to reach the substance of the issues in this appeal, which involves the interplay between NRS 239.011(2), dealing with awards of attorney fees and costs under the Nevada Public Records Act ("NPRA"), and NRS 239.012, dealing with governmental immunity for refusing in good faith to disclose information requested under the NPRA.³ The interplay between these statutes has not yet been

 $^{^{2}}$ NRS 239.011(2), in pertinent part, states, "If the requester prevails, the requester is entitled to recover his or her costs and reasonable attorney's fees in the proceeding from the governmental entity whose officer has custody of the book or record."

³ NRS 239.012 (Immunity for good faith disclosure or refusal to disclose information): "A public officer or employee who acts in good faith in disclosing or Page 2 of 38

resolved by this Court. Therefore, the Coroner asks that the Supreme Court retain this appeal according to NRAP 17(a)(10) and (11).

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. WHETHER THIS COURT SHOULD VACATE THE DISTRICT COURT'S AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS TO LVRJ IF IT IS NO LONGER A PREVAILING PARTY.
- B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY CONSTRUING NRS 239.011(2) IN ISOLATION TO AWARD ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS TO LVRJ.
- C. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY CONCLUDING THAT NRS 239.012 DOES NOT PROVIDE IMMUNITY TO THE CORONER FROM LVRJ'S REQUESTED ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS.
- D. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY AWARDING CERTAIN ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS TO LVRJ WITHOUT PROPER SUPPORTING INFORMATION.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case in which the District Court improperly awarded attorney fees

and costs to LVRJ based upon NRS 239.011(2). 5 JA 750-765. Before reaching

the merits of the District Court's decision on attorney fees and costs, this Court

should first determine whether this appeal can be summarily resolved in favor of

the Coroner. If this Court rules in favor of the Coroner in Case No. 74604, which

refusing to disclose information and the employer of the public officer or employee are immune from liability for damages, either to the requester or to the person whom the information concerns."

arises from the same District Court case, LVRJ will no longer be a prevailing party, thus removing its ability to recover any attorney fees and costs based upon NRS 239.011(2). *See Loomis v. Lange Fin. Corp.*, 109 Nev. 1121, 1129, 865 P.2d 1161, 1165–1166 (1993). Even if the Court reaches the substance of the issues in this appeal, the Court should still reverse or reduce the award of attorney fees and costs to LVRJ for the following reasons:

First, the District Court erred by construing NRS 239.011(2) in isolation to award attorney fees and costs to LVRJ. The District Court relied upon a single provision in NRS 239.011(2) to award attorney fees and costs to LVRJ: "If the requester prevails, the requester is entitled to recover his or her costs and reasonable attorney's fees in the proceeding from the governmental entity whose officer has custody of the book or record." However, the District Court avoided construing this statutory provision with the conflicting provision in NRS 239.012: "A public officer or employee who acts in good faith in disclosing or refusing to disclose information and the employer of the public officer or employee are immune from liability for damages, either to the requester or to the person whom the information concerns." As a matter of law, multiple statutory provisions within a statutory scheme must be construed together. See S. Nev. Homebuilders v. Clark Cnty., 121 Nev. 446, 449, 117 P.3d 171, 173 (2005). If the multiple statutory provisions within a statutory scheme conflict with each other, an ambiguity is

created, such that the legislative history must be consulted. *See, e.g., Nuleaf CLV Dispensary, LLC v. State, Dep't of Health and Human Servs.*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. No. 17, at *8 (Mar. 29, 2018). Therefore, the Court should first conclude that the District Court's analysis of NRS 239.011(2), to the exclusion of NRS 239.012, was incomplete.

Second, the District Court erred by concluding that NRS 239.012 does not provide immunity to the Coroner from LVRJ's requested attorney fees and costs. The plain meaning of "damages" in NRS 239.012 encompasses the terms "attorney's fees" and "costs" in NRS 239.011(2), such that the Coroner is immune from LVRJ's requested attorney fees and costs. See BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY, 471 (10th ed. 2014) (defining "damages" as "[m]oney claimed by, or ordered to be paid to, a person as compensation for loss or injury"). The Legislature intended to provide immunity to governmental entities for a good faith refusal to disclose information requested under the NPRA. See NRS 239.012. Thus, the District Court erred by ignoring the stated purpose of this statute. See McKay v. Bd. of Sup'rs of Carson City, 102 Nev. 644, 648, 730 P.2d 438, 441 (1986). Since the construction of NRS 239.011(2) together with NRS 239.012 creates an ambiguity, the legislative history must be consulted for the Legislature's intent. In the legislative discussion for Assembly Bill 365 (1993), the language of what is now codified as NRS 239.011 and NRS 239.012 is discussed at length, where the

following observation was made: "Court costs and attorneys' fees were granted only when it was a denial of what was clearly a public record [bad faith]." *Assembly Committee on Government Affairs Minutes: Hearing on AB 365 Before the Assembly Committee on Government Affairs*, 1993 67th Sess. May 3, 1993 (Ande Englemen of the Nevada Press Association speaking). Therefore, the Court should conclude that the Coroner is immune from LVRJ's requested attorney fees and costs based upon NRS 239.012.

Third, the District Court erred by awarding certain attorney fees and costs to LVRJ without proper supporting information. Even if the Court were to allow LVRJ to recover attorney fees and costs based upon an analysis of the competing statutory provisions, the Court should vacate \$165.00 in attorney fees for "administrative support" (5 JA 757) since no time keeper was identified or analyzed under the *Brunzell* factors.⁴ *See LVMPD v. Yeghiazarian*, 129 Nev. 760, 770, 312 P.3d 503, 510 (2013). The Court should also vacate the \$825.02 award of costs to LVRJ since no memorandum of costs was filed, and no supporting documentation was provided. *See Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc.*, 319 P.3d 606, 616 n.6 (Nev. 2014) ("Even if the homeowners were not precluded from recovering costs by NRS 17.115 and NRCP 68, they would be for their failure to

⁴ See Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969).

file a memorandum of costs pursuant to NRS 18.110(1)."); Cadle Co. v. Woods & Erickson, LLP, 345 P.3d 1049, 1054 (Nev. 2015).

In summary, the Coroner asks this Court to summarily resolve this appeal by vacating the award of attorney fees and costs to LVRJ if the Coroner prevails in Supreme Court Case No. 74604, which would remove LVRJ's prevailing party status for purposes of NRS 239.011(2).

Even if the Court reaches the substance of the issues in this appeal, the Coroner asks this Court to determine that NRS 239.011(2) cannot be construed in isolation. When NRS 239.011(2) is construed with NRS 239.012, along with the legislative history, the Court should determine that NRS 239.012 provides immunity to the Coroner from LVRJ's requested attorney fees and costs since the Coroner acted in "good faith" in refusing to disclose information.

Finally, the Court should vacate \$165.00 in attorney fees awarded to LVRJ for an unknown time keeper, and \$825.02 in costs due to the absence of a memorandum of costs or any supporting documentation.

V. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

A. STANDARDS FOR CONSTRUING STATUTES.

This Court reviews questions of law de novo. *See Birth Mother v. Adoptive Parents*, 118 Nev. 972, 974, 59 P.3d 1233, 1235 (2002). Statutory interpretation is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *Id.* When the Legislature has

addressed a matter with "imperfect clarity," it becomes the responsibility of this Court to discern the law. *See Baron v. Dist. Ct.*, 95 Nev. 646, 648, 600 P.2d 1192, 1193–1194 (1979). Given an ambiguous statute, this Court must interpret the statute "in light of the policy and the spirit of the law, and the interpretation should avoid absurd results." *Hunt v. Warden*, 111 Nev. 1284, 1285, 903 P.2d 826, 827 (1995).

B. STANDARDS FOR REVIEWING AWARDS OF ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS.

When an attorney fees matter implicates questions of law, the proper review is de novo. *See In re Estate and Trust of Rose Miller*, 125 Nev. 550, 553, 216 P.3d 239, 241 (2009). Statutes permitting the recovery of costs are to be strictly construed because they are in derogation of the common law. *See Gibellini v. Klindt*, 110 Nev. 1201, 1205, 885 P.2d 540, 543 (1994).

VI. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. BACKGROUND ON THE DUTIES AND PURPOSE OF THE CLARK COUNTY CORONER/MEDICAL EXAMINER (NRS CHAPTER 259 AND CLARK COUNTY CODE CHAPTER 2.12).

The purpose of the Coroner is to investigate deaths within Clark County that are violent, suspicious, unexpected, or unnatural to identify and report on the cause and manner of death. This may include those reported as unattended by a physician, suicide, poisoning or overdose, occasioned by criminal means, resulting or related to an accident. *See* Clark County Code ("CCC") § 2.12.060; 1 JA 225–234. When the Coroner is notified of a death, a Coroner investigator responds to the scene and conducts a medico-legal investigation. Information is gathered from the scene and persons (such as witnesses, law enforcement officers, and family members), the decedent is identified, the next of kin is notified, and property found on or about the decedent is secured. The investigation often entails obtaining medical records or health information of the decedent. Most often, the body is transported to the Coroner's Office for a physical examination known as an autopsy, which is conducted by a medical examiner who is a forensic pathologist. *See* CCC §§ 2.12.060, 2.12.280; 1 JA 226–227.

In conducting the autopsy, the medical examiners perform an external and internal exam of the body of the decedent. They review investigative findings, medical records, and health history prior to commencing the exam. The organs are examined, and histology samples along with blood are submitted to a laboratory for analysis. It is the responsibility of the medical examiners to determine the cause and manner of death. *See* CCC §§ 2.12.040, 2.12.060; 1 JA 226–227. The manner of death is the method by which someone died. The five manners of death are homicide, suicide, natural, accident, and undetermined. The cause of death is the circumstance that triggers a death, such as a gunshot wound, heart attack, or drug overdose. The medical examiner documents findings, including the cause and

manner of death in an autopsy report. *See* CCC §§ 2.12.060, 2.12.040, 2.12.250; 1 JA 226–227. After completion of the autopsy, the body is released to a mortuary, and the person with rights to the body takes over the handling of the body. *See* CCC §§ 2.12.270, 2.12.280; NRS 451.024. The death of the decedent, including the cause and manner, is documented in a death certificate, which is generated and maintained by the Department of Vital Statistics. *See* CCC § 2.12.250, \P 2(e).

1. <u>Content of Autopsy Reports.</u>

Autopsy reports consist of the findings from the autopsy, including those related to the cause and manner of death of the decedent. Additionally, the name, age, sex, and date of death are identified. 1 JA 226–227. The external examination is described in the autopsy report and includes an analysis as to the medical/health status or condition of the exterior parts of the body. These findings could range from observations about the genitalia to recent medical treatment to a hidden tattoo. *Id.* The findings related to the internal examination are also included in the autopsy report. Such findings may include radiographic findings, detailed descriptions of medical evaluations as to the condition of organs and functions, which may include the neck (i.e., thyroid, cricoids, prevertebral tissue, and muscles); cardiovascular system (i.e., aorta, coronary arteries, heart); respiratory system (i.e., trachea, major bronchi, pulmonary vessels, lungs);

hepatobiliary system (i.e., liver); hemolymphatic system (i.e., spleen); gastrointestinal system (i.e., esophagus, stomach, appendix, intestines); genitourinary system (i.e., renal and genitalia); endocrine system (i.e., thyroid and adrenal glands); and central nervous system (i.e., brain). *Id.* The fluids, tissue, and organ samples retained and submitted for testing are included in the autopsy report, along with the types of tests ordered. The test results and any microscopic examinations are also included. *Id.*

References to specific medical records, specific medical or health information, and personal characteristics about the decedent may also be included in an autopsy report. Such references could include sexual orientation of the decedent and types of diseases, such as venereal, HIV, liver, cancer, mental illness, or drug/alcohol addiction or overdoses. This information may not be publicly known, and its dissemination may result in unwanted social stigmas or embarrassment to a family. 1 JA 226–227.

2. <u>The Coroner's Policy With Respect to the Release of</u> <u>Autopsy Reports.</u>

The Coroner's policy with respect to the release of autopsy reports is to release them, upon request, to the legal next of kin, an administrator or executor of an estate, law enforcement officers in performing their official duties, and pursuant to a subpoena. *Cf.* NRS 259.045; AB 57 (1 JA 236–237). The Coroner's policy not to release autopsy reports to the general public is based on the underlying legal

analysis in Attorney General Opinion ("AGO") 82-12. 1 JA 227. This AGO concludes that an autopsy report is a public record but not for public dissemination based on public policy and the law treating the subject matter in an autopsy report as confidential. 1 JA 36–39. However, the Coroner does make public the information related to the fulfillment of its statutory duties, such as the identification of a decedent, location and date of death, cause and manner of death, which is consistent with AGO 82-12. 1 JA 227.

B. LVRJ'S REQUEST FOR JUVENILE AUTOPSY REPORTS.

On April 13, 2017, Arthur Kane ("Kane") and Brian Joseph ("Joseph"), investigative reporters for LVRJ, emailed a public records request to the Coroner for:

... all autopsy reports, notes and other documentation of all autopsies performed by the Clark County Coroner's office from Jan. 1 2012 to present on anyone who was younger than the age of 18 when he or she died.

1 JA 19. On the same day, Nicole Charlton ("Charlton"), administrative secretary of the Coroner, responded by stating that there were hundreds of these cases and asked if LVRJ wanted all manners of death (suicide, homicide, accidents, etc.) or just certain types. 1 JA 18. LVRJ was informed that the Coroner could not provide autopsy reports, notes, or other documents, but could provide a spreadsheet of data, consisting of the Coroner case number, name of decedent, date of death, gender, age, race, location of death, and cause and manner of death. 1 JA 17–18, 228.⁵ Kane verified the desire for spreadsheets in addition to the actual autopsy reports and asked for confirmation as to whether the cases went to full autopsy. 1 JA 17. Charlton explained that autopsies are not conducted on all decedents involved in the Coroner's Office and that she could not separate cases that were not autopsied from ones that were. 1 JA 16. She also provided an explanation as to why the Coroner does not release autopsy reports. *Id*.

Autopsy reports are public records but not open to any member of the public for inspection, copying, and dissemination. *The reasoning is that the reports contain medical information and confidential information about the deceased's body*. There may be a situation when a particular report would be available for a particular party who has sufficient interest to justify access. AGO 82-12 (6-15-82). This decision may preclude the dissemination of an autopsy report to members of the decedent's immediate family without following the correct procedures of law, i.e., a court order. In that situation, it may be appropriate to require the decedent's family to sign a release form in exchange for the autopsy report.

1 JA 16 (emphasis added). Kane was emailed detailed spreadsheets listing all

Clark County juvenile deaths dating back to January 2012 that involved the

Coroner. 1 JA 22-27, 35-63. Later that day, April 13, 2017, Kane emailed the

Civil Division, District Attorney's ("D.A.") Office stating:

I requested all autopsies for any deaths between 2012 and present of people younger than 18 years old from the Clark County Coroner's

⁵ A few months earlier, LVRJ had asked for a listing of all homicides dating back to 2006. The Coroner provided a spreadsheet of public information, pursuant to CCC § 2.12.060, consisting of name, Coroner case number, date of death, age, gender, race, cause and manner of death going back to January 2012. 1 JA 228.

office this morning. The response is below. I do not see any legal citation to deny these records, the Coroner admits they're public just not available and they cite a privacy right which does not exist for deceased people.

Can you consult with them and let them know these are public documents that they are required to produce[?] Conversely, if you believe they are not, please cite a statute that exempts them from release.

1 JA 29. The D.A.'s Office responded to Kane on April 14, 2017, stating that the

basis for nondisclosure of the juvenile autopsy reports is the legal underpinnings of

AGO 82-12, as previously expressed by the Coroner. Specifically, the D.A.'s

Office stated:

As I believe you are aware, the Nevada Attorney General, in Opinion No. 82-12, has opined that the autopsy report is a public record but not open to public inspection. The opinion setting forth the legal analysis of the attorney general is attached.

It is the practice of the Clark County Coroner to release the autopsy reports to the next of kin, if desired. It is my belief that the Nevada Supreme Court would agree with the practice of the Coroner.

Notably, there is legislation pending, AB 57, which, if enacted, will specifically state to whom the Coroner may provide a report (parents, guardians, adult children or custodians of a decedent). The analysis behind this bill is also compatible with the current practice.

1 JA 18–19.

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