IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLARK COUNTY OFFICE OF THE CORONER/MEDICAL EXAMINER,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Oct 22 2018 11:25 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO:

75095

LAS VEGAS REVIEW-JOURNAL,

Respondent.

DISTRICT COURT CASE NO.: A-17-758501-W

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Margaret A. McLetchie, Nevada Bar No. 10931 Alina M. Shell, Nevada Bar No. 11711 MCLETCHIE LAW 701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 520 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 728-5300

Fax: (702) 425-8220

Email: maggie@nvlitugation.com

Counsel for Respondent, Las Vegas Review-Journal

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

Also telling is the absence of any bad faith requirement in Section 2. All that AB 365 required for a requester to recoup attorney's fees and costs is that he or she prevails in the litigation in district court. (3JA549.) Unlike Section 3, there is no requirement that a requester demonstrate an agency acted in bad faith.

Moreover, reading these two separate sections of AB 365 together as the Coroner argues would be inconsistent with the purpose of AB 365 and the overall purpose of the NPRA. As the Society for Professional Journalists explained during public testimony on the bill, AB 365 was designed "so a signal is sent to the public employees who hold public records that it is their job to ensure the public has easy access to those documents which indeed are open to review by taxpayers." (3JA624.) Rendering the Fees Provision meaningless would be inconsistent with this purpose, which, as detailed above, is now enshrined in the NPRA's plain language.

Thus, the bill was designed to revamp and strengthen access to public records. It set forth a mechanism by which a requester could go to court—and recoup fees and costs upon prevailing. It also separately replaced a prior provision that imposed criminal liability with one limiting civil liability to those cases in which the

governmental officer or employee did not act in good faith. Nothing in the record shows that Section 3 was intended as a limitation on Section 2.

The Coroner cites to an isolated portion of testimony by Ande Engleman of the Nevada Press Association for the proposition that an award of attorney's fees must be predicated upon a showing of bad faith. (OB, pp. 31-32.) While Ms. Engleman may have testified that costs and fees would be "granted only when it was a denial of what was clearly a public record" (3JA649), that sentence was sandwiched in a discussion of frivolous lawsuits. (*Id.*) Ms. Engleman was not urging a limitation on the fees and costs provision—she was assuring legislators that public agencies would not be on the hook for fees and costs if a lawsuit was frivolous. In any case, such "legislative history" certainly cannot be used to dodge the plain text of the NPRA.

Moreover, at the same hearing where Ms. Engleman testified, Assembly Subcommittee on Government Affairs Chairman Rick Bennett explained that "[a]s currently written, if the requester prevailed, he was entitled to recover his costs and attorneys' fees in the proceeding, from the agency whose officer had custody of the record." (3JA652-53.)

When interpreting a statute, this court resolves any doubt as to legislative intent in favor of what is reasonable, and against what is unreasonable. *Hunt v. Warden, Nevada State Prison*, 111 Nev. 1284, 1285, 903 P.2d 826, 827 (1995)

(citing Oakley v. State, 105 Nev. 700, 702, 782 P.2d 1321, 1322 (1989)). Further, even if any ambiguity results in interpreting the Fees Provision, it must be resolved in a manner that favors access and the unambiguous purpose of the NPRA. Cf. McKay v. Bd. of Sup 'rs of Carson City, 102 Nev. 644, 651, 730 P.2d 438, 443 (1986) ("...a strict reading of the statute is more in keeping with the policy favoring open meetings expressed in NRS chapter 241 and the spirit of the Open Meeting Law..."); see also State v. Lucero, 127 Nev. 92, 95, 249 P.3d 1226, 1228 (2011) ("To interpret an ambiguous statute, we look to the legislative history and construe the statute in a manner that is consistent with reason and public policy.") (emphasis added) (citations omitted). As discussed above, the purpose of the NPRA is to further public access to government records. Using a contorted interpretation of legislative history to cancel out a provision of the NPRA which entitles requesters to recoup their attorney's fees for having to drag a governmental entity to court to obtain public records is both unreasonable and contrary to that important purpose.¹⁸

///

///

¹⁸ The Coroner also asserts that the district court committed reversible error by "interpret[ing] NRS 239.011(2) in isolation." (OB, p. 22.) This necessarily ignores that in declining the Coroner's request to conflate Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 239.011 and 239.012, the district court found that such an interpretation would be inconsistent with the purposes and policies animating the entire NPRA. (*See* 5JA761-62.)

E. Even if the Immunity Provision Applied to the Fees Provision, the Coroner Would Not Be Entitled to Rely On it.

In its Petition, the Review-Journal made clear that it intended to seek fees in this matter. (1JA145; 1JA160.) In response, the Coroner quoted the Immunity Provision and asserted that it "acted in good faith ... responded timely, maintained open and professional communication, provided spreadsheets consisting of public data relating to these deaths, and provided continuous discussion regarding the legal basis for non-disclosure" and therefore "is immune from liability for damages, even if that damage is in the form of attorney's fees and costs for which there is no specific statutory entitlement." (1JA223.) However, even if the Immunity Provision applied as the Coroner imagines it does, the Coroner has not sufficiently demonstrated that it acted in good faith in this matter, and would thus still be liable.

1. The Immunity Provision is an Affirmative Defense, Which Must Be Proved by the Coroner.

If the Immunity Provision even applied to attorney's fees and costs—which it does not—it would be an affirmative defense to liability, all elements of which must be proven by the defendant. *See Nevada Ass'n Servs., Inc. v. Eighth Jud. Dist. Ct.*, 130 Nev. 949, 955, 338 P.3d 1250, 1254 (2014) (citing *Schwartz v. Schwartz*, 95 Nev. 202, 206 n.2, 591 P.2d 1137, 1140 n.2 (1979)) ("because the voluntary payment

¹⁹ The contention that there is no specific statutory entitlement to attorney's fees and costs in this instance is meritless. *See* Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.011(2).

doctrine is an affirmative defense, the defendant bears the burden of proving its applicability"); see also Childress v. Darby Lumber, Inc., 357 F.3d 1000, 1007 (9th Cir. 2004) ("good faith is an affirmative defense as to which defendants have the burden of proof" regarding violations of Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act). The requirement that a defendant bear the burden of proving the affirmative defense of good faith is especially pertinent when the defendant is the government. See Benigni v. City of Hemut, 879 F.2d 473, 479 (9th Cir. 1988) ("We have expressly held that good faith is an affirmative defense that a police officer must prove."); McDonald v. United States, 102 F.3d 1009, 1010 (9th Cir. 1996) (In a case dealing with an alleged improper tax disclosure, "[g]ood faith is an affirmative defense which the government must prove"); Houghton v. South, 965 F.2d 1532, 1536 (9th Cir. 1992) (In § 1983 civil rights action, "qualified immunity is an affirmative defense, and the burden of proving the defense lies with the official asserting it") (citing Harlow v. Fitzgerald, 457 U.S. 800, 815 (1982)).

Aside from its naked assertions (1JA223) the Coroner never provided evidence to support its defense of good faith. Indeed, the history of this case shows that the Coroner did not act in good faith—and failed to comply with both the spirit and the letter of the NPRA.

///

///

2. The Coroner's Actions Demonstrating Lack of Good Faith.

Most centrally, the Coroner relied on flimsy "authority" to skirt compliance with important procedural requirements contained in the NPRA. In its mandatory five-day response, all the Coroner cited to support its claims of privilege was Attorney General Opinion ("AGO") No. 82-12, in which the attorney general opined that an "autopsy report is a public record but not open to public inspection." (1JA33) and Assembly Bill 57, "legislation pending." (1JA34.)

While it is axiomatic that unenacted statutes have no legal weight, an AGO is not a binding legal authority either. *Univ. & Cmty. Coll. Sys. of Nevada v. DR Partners*, 117 Nev. 195, 203, 18 P.3d 1042, 1048 (2001). Therefore, the Coroner failed to cite to specific authority for withholding records, in violation of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 239.0107(1)(d). That provision requires the Coroner provide the Review-Journal with a "citation to the specific statute or other legal authority" that it believed made the requested records confidential within five (5) days of the request at issue. This provision is important: public records are presumed public and § 239.0107(1)(d) gives a requester notice of why a record is being withheld. The requester is then able to determine whether it should seek court action to get access to records.

The Review-Journal was then forced to petition the district court for a writ of mandamus to obtain public records from the Clark County Coroner. Then, as it did

pre-litigation, the Coroner continued to rely on inapplicable authority to justify withholding public records, which is not good faith. At a September 28, 2017 hearing, the Court orally granted the Review-Journal's Petition and entered a written order on November 8, 2017. (2JA398.) In its subsequent written order, the district court found that the Coroner failed to comply with Nev. Rev. Stat. §239.0107(1)(d). (See Order, 2JA436-437, ¶¶ 32-33.) The Court found that the Coroner could not "rely on privileges, statutes, or other authorities that it failed to assert," but nonetheless considered the arguments made by the Coroner. The Court then rejected each of the authorities cited by the Coroner as bases for withholding the requested autopsy records because the Coroner did not rely on any valid statute or legal authority. (Id., 2JA436-439, ¶¶ 34-48.)

Despite the Coroner's attempts to redact the reports and charge for the redaction, the district court ruled that nothing within NPRA permitted the Coroner to do so. (Id., at 2JA 440, ¶ 52.) The district court found that permitting a public entity to charge for a privilege review or redaction was contrary to the plain language of the NPRA and was also impermissible because "[t]he public official or agency bears the burden of establishing the existence of privilege based upon confidentiality," and the Coroner did not meet its burden. (Id. at ¶ 53 (quoting DR Partners v. Bd. of Ctv. Comm'rs of Clark Ctv., 116 Nev. 616, 621, 6 P.3d 465, 468

(2000)). The myriad ways in which the Coroner flouted the requirements of the NPRA are simply incompatible with good faith.

Indeed, the facts of the case are not unlike cases relied on by the Coroner from other jurisdictions where governmental entities have been found to act unlawfully and/or in bad faith. For example, in Com., Cabinet for Health & Family Services v. Lexington H-L Services, Inc. (cited in OB, p. 27), the Court found that a blanket policy of nondisclosure "constituted a 'willful' violation of the Open Records Act." 382 S.W.3d 875, 883–84 (Ky. Ct. App. 2012) Here, as in that case, the Coroner has a nearly blanket policy against providing releasing Autopsy Reports to the general public. (1JA227 (Declaration of John Fudenberg).) Here, as in the Kentucky case, the Coroner's "all-encompassing policy of nondisclosure" exists "despite the purpose of the [Open Records Act]." Com., Cabinet for Health & Family Services, 382 S.W.3d at 883. The Kentucky court found the blanket policy and refusal to follow the applicable public record to be "willful" and thus upheld the lower court's conclusion that the "denials were made in 'bad faith'." Id. at 883-884. Here, as in the Kentucky case, the Coroner acted in bad faith.²⁰

²⁰ In contrast, in *Friedmann v. Corr. Corp. of Am.*, 310 S.W.3d 366, 381 (Tenn. Ct. App. 2009) (cited in OB, p. 27), the reviewing court refused to disturb a district court's determination not to grant fees because "the record fully support[ed] the Trial Court's conclusion that CCA was acting in good faith."

3. If the Immunity Provision Applies, the Review-Journal is Entitled to an Evidentiary Hearing to Determine Whether the Coroner Acted in Good Faith.

If this Court determines (despite all the above) that the Immunity Provision applies, the issue of whether the Coroner acted in good faith remains unresolved. Thus, this matter would need to be remanded for an evidentiary hearing. At such an evidentiary hearing, the Review-Journal would be entitled to examine John Fudenberg (the Coroner), the Coroner's counsel, and any other the other person(s) responsible for the decision to withhold the requested records. Even assuming the Coroner has asserted sufficient facts for the Court to consider the affirmative defense of good faith, such a defense is one that is resolved by the trier of fact. See W. Indus., Inc. v. Gen. Ins. Co., 91 Nev. 222, 228, 533 P.2d 473, 476–77 (1975) (the question of whether a corporate officer has breached his duty of good faith, honesty and full disclosure is "a question the trier of fact must resolve after scrutinizing all the evidence"); see also G. Golden Assocs. Of Oceanside, Inc. v. Arnold Foods Co., 870 F. Supp. 472, 478 (E.D.N.Y. 1994) ("Whether a party has acted in good faith is typically a question to be answered by the trier of fact . . . Issues of motive simply are not easily determinable before trial on the basis of a limited record without the ability to assess the credibility of witnesses."); Safeco Ins. Co. v. City of White House, Tenn., 36 F.3d 540, 548 (6th Cir. 1994) (good faith is a question of fact).

F. The Coroner Has Waived Its Right to Object to the Sufficiency of the Review-Journal's Documentation of Costs.

In its Opening Brief, the Coroner asserts for the first time on appeal that the district court erred in awarding the Review-Journal \$852.02 in costs because the Review-Journal did not file a memorandum of costs. (OB, p. 33.) The Coroner did not raise this argument in the district court. (*See generally* 3JA487-506 (Coroner's opposition).) Thus, the Coroner has waived its ability to raise it on appeal, and the Court should not consider it. *See Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, 623 P.2d 981, 983 (1981) ("A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal.") (citation omitted).

Even if the Coroner had preserved this argument for appeal, the district court did not abuse its discretion in awarding the Review-Journal its costs. This is because the NPRA provides a specific basis for the Review-Journal to recover fees and costs that is separate from the general provisions regarding recoupment of fees and costs in Chapter 18 of the Nevada Revised Statutes. "[I]t is an accepted rule of statutory construction that a provision which specifically applies to a given situation will take precedence over one that applies only generally." *Nevada Power Co. v. Haggerty*, 115 Nev. 353, 364, 989 P.2d 870, 877 (1999) (quoting *Sierra Life Ins. Co. v. Rottman*, 95 Nev. 654, 656, 601 P.2d 56, 57–58 (1979)); *accord In re Resort at Summerlin Litig.*, 122 Nev. 177, 185, 127 P.3d 1076, 1081 (2006) (holding that the

costs provision in the 2001 version of Nev. Rev. Stat. § 108.239(6) controlled over the general costs provisions of Chapter 18 of the Nevada Revised Statutes).

As this Court discussed in *In re Resorts at Summerlin Litig.*, the costs provisions in Chapter 18 are "general costs provisions." *In re Resorts at Summerlin Litig.*, 122 Nev. at 185, 127 P.3d at 1081. By contrast, the NPRA's Fees Provision, as discussed above, specifically provides that a prevailing requester is entitled to his or her costs and reasonable attorney's fees. Unlike the general costs provisions in Chapter 18, the Fees Provision does not require prevailing petitioners to submit a memorandum of costs. Thus, the Coroner's unpreserved argument is misplaced.

Should this Court find that the Fees Provision does not take precedence over Nev. Rev. Stat. § 18.110(1)'s memorandum of costs requirement, the fairest solution is to vacate the portion of the order that granted the Review-Journal its costs and remand this matter to the district court to allow the Review-Journal to submit a memorandum of costs.

G. The District Court Did Not Err in Awarding Fees to Administrative Support Staff.

In addition to its unpreserved argument regarding costs, the Coroner asserts that the district court erred in awarding the Review-Journal \$165.00 for administrative support. (OB, p. 33 (citing 5JA757).) As with its argument regarding costs, the Coroner failed to raise this argument below, and this Court should therefore decline to consider it on appeal. *Old Aztec Mine, Inc.*, 97 Nev. at 52, 623

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